
Please ask for:
Linda Coote
Direct dial:
(023) 9254 5340
Fax:
(023) 9254 5587
E-mail:

12th January 2021

S U M M O N S

MEETING: Housing Board
DATE: 20 January 2021
TIME: 6.00 pm
PLACE: Virtual
Democratic Services contact: Linda Coote

PAUL GRANT
BOROUGH SOLICITOR AND MONITORING OFFICER

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

Councillor Hook (ex-Officio)
Councillor Mrs Huggins (Mayor) and Councillor Burgess (Chairman)

Councillor Mrs Jones (Vice-Chair)

Councillor Mrs Batty
Councillor Beavis
Councillor Mrs Cully
Councillor Foster-Reed
Councillor Hammond
Councillor Hutchison
Councillor Mitchell

Councillor Mrs Morgan
Councillor Murphy
Councillor Pepper
Councillor Philpott
Councillor Scard
Councillor Westerby

Public Document Pack



NOTE:

i. Councillors are requested to note that, if any Councillor who is not a Member of the Board 
wishes to speak at the Board meeting, then the Borough Solicitor is required to receive 
not less than 24 hours prior notice in writing or electronically and such notice shall 
indicate the agenda item or items on which the member wishes to speak. 

ii. Please note that mobile phones should be switched off or switched to silent for the duration 
of the meeting.

iii. This meeting may be filmed or otherwise recorded. By attending this meeting, you are 
consenting to any broadcast of your image and being recorded. 



Housing Board
20 January 2021

AGENDA

1.  APOLOGIES FOR NON ATTENDANCE 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

All members are required to disclose at this point in the meeting or 
as soon as possible thereafter, any disclosable pecuniary interest or 
personal interest in any item(s) being considered at this meeting.

3.  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE HOUSING 
BOARD HELD 

4.  DEPUTATIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.4 

(NOTE: The Board is required to receive a deputation(s) on a matter 
which is before the meeting of the Board provided that notice of the 
intended deputation and its object shall have been received by the 
Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on 18th January 2021. The total time 
for deputations in favour and against a proposal shall not exceed 10 
minutes)

5.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

(NOTE: The Board is required to allow a total of 15 minutes for 
questions from Members of the public on matters within the terms of 
reference of the Board provided that notice of such Question(s) shall 
have been submitted to the Borough Solicitor by 12 noon on 18th 
January 2021)

6.  BUSINESS PLAN FINANCIAL MODEL UPDATE 

7.  DFG POLICY 2020 

8.  PROCUREMENT OF MOBEYSOFT RENTSENSE SOFTWARE 

9.  ANY OTHER ITEMS 



This page is intentionally left blank



Housing Board
11 November 2020

1

A MEETING OF THE HOUSING BOARD
WAS HELD ON 11 NOVEMBER 2020

 

Councillors Mrs Batty, Beavis, Burgess, Mrs Cully, Foster-Reed, Hammond, Hook 
(Substituting for Scard), Mrs Hook (Substituting for Murphy), Hutchison, Mrs Jones, 
Mitchell, Mrs Morgan, Pepper and Westerby

6. APOLOGIES FOR NON ATTENDANCE 

Apologies for non attendance were received from Councillors Murphy and Scard

7. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were none

8. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE HOUSING BOARD HELD ON 
16TH SEPTEMBER 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on the 16th September 2020 be signed 
as a true and correct record.

9. DEPUTATIONS - STANDING ORDER 3.4 

There were none

10. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

There were none

11. EXTENSION TO THE NOVUS CONTRACT 

Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Housing requesting that the Board 
approve a 12 month extension to the existing External Painting and Communal Area 
Redecoration Contract between the Council and Novus Property Solutions.

Members were reassured that the work was currently monitored, and issues and complaints 
are dealt with through the normal processes.

Members were complimentary about the standard of work in the Sheltered Schemes. 

Members were advised that because most of the work currently being undertaken was 
external, it had been able to continue following risks assessments.

Members were keen to ensure that residents understood who was carrying out which works 
to ensure that any complaints were correctly assigned to either Kier or Novus.

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 3



Housing Board
11 November 2020

2

Members felt that an extension to the contract would reassure the workers, in these unsure 
times, that they had employment as least until September 2022.

RESOLVED: That the Board approves a 12 month extension to the existing External 
Painting and Communal Area Redecoration (Including Associated Repair Works) Contract 
between the Council and Novus Property Solutions Limited from 1st October 2021 to 30th 
September 2022 and delegates authority to the Head of Housing and Borough Solicitor to 
finalise all the necessary documentation

12. AMENDMENT TO THE ALLOCATION SCHEME 

Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Housing requesting the Housing Board 
approve amendments to the Allocation Scheme.

Members wished to congratulate the Housing Manager on the thoroughness of the report 
and how it had given very clear guidance to the Allocation Scheme.

RESOLVED: That the Board:

i) Approves deletion of subsection 15.5 of the Allocation Scheme
ii) Approves amendment to the Allocation Scheme and Banding Scheme relating to 

Exceptional Circumstances.

13. ANY OTHER ITEMS 

There were none

CHAIRMAN

Concluded at 6.15 pm



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

Board/Committee: HOUSING BOARD
Date of Meeting: 20 JANUARY  2021
Title: BUSINESS PLAN FINANCIAL MODEL UPDATE 

AND COUNCIL DWELLING RENTS 2021/2022
Author: BOROUGH TREASURER AND  HOUSING 

SERVICES MANAGER
Status: FOR RECOMMENDATION TO FULL COUNCIL

Purpose

This report considers the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 
Financial Model including the revised 2020/21 budget and the 2021/22  
budget including recommendations on rent levels for next year. 

It also provides updates for members on the latest information with regard 
to policy changes that impact directly on local authority housing finance 
services.

Recommendation

That the Community Board recommend to Council that: 

 The revised HRA Business Plan Financial Model  extract (Appendix A) 
and associated 2020/21 Revised Budget and 2021/22 Budget 
(Appendix B) is agreed.

  That Council Dwelling rents increase  by CPI (0.5% @sept 2020) plus 
1% .The Council is setting it’s rents according to the five year policy  
programme as detailed in the new national rent policy introduced in 
February  2019.

 The rent for all  garages is increased in line with inflation, as agreed in 
the Garage Renewal strategy. 

1.0 Background

`

1.1

The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 requires the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) to be maintained as a ring-
fenced account and prescribes the debits and credits to be applied 
to it.The principle items of expenditure within the HRA are 
management and maintenance costs,together with charges for 
capital expenditure (depreciation and interest).The majority of this 
is met from rent and service charge income for dwellings and 
garages.

 Circular 8/95 provided the only previous formal guidance for local 
authorities on the operation of the HRA ring-fence. Additional draft 

Agenda Item 6

mailto:1.7%25@sept


1.2

guidance was provided in 2010 as part of the “Prospectus” for self-
financing but was never formally adopted. 
On the 10 November 2020, the Government updated the 
guidance. The general principles of the previous formal and draft 
guidance are included in the new guidance and as stated 
although some circumstances may have changed with regard to 
housing estates, the guidance includes no new issues of 
principle and does not claim to be an authoritative statement of 
the law. 
Having said that, the guidance does go further than circular 8/95 
in confirming the draft core, core plus and non-core services with 
examples. 

The guidance covers the statutory background and the general 
principles as applied to property, amenities and services. For 
completeness these are outlined in the following sections.

Statutory Background 

The HRA is primarily a landlord account and includes property 
provided by authorities under Part II of the Housing Act 1985. 
Expenditure and income relating to property listed in s74 of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 must be accounted for 
in the HRA. Items of expenditure (and income) are specified in 
Part II of Schedule 4, if an item is included it must be debited to 
the HRA; if it does not, it must not be debited. The purpose of 
this guidance is to support authorities in decisions over ‘grey 
areas’, where the authority may have some discretion subject to 
any direction from the Secretary of State. 

General Principles

The guidance specifies that, in making decisions about where 
costs should be charged, the test is ‘Who benefits?’ i.e. who is 
the major contributor of the item of income, or the major 
beneficiary of the expenditure under consideration? Hence, 
should the HRA bear the full cost or only part, or should it benefit 
from the entirety of the income, or is some of it applicable to the 
General Fund?. 

Property 

Property must be provided in the HRA if it is ‘Part II Housing’ 
(provided under Part II of the Housing Act 1985 or any other 
powers specified in s74 of the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989), subject to exceptions e.g. the exclusion of leases of 
up to 10 years for homeless purposes.



Property   can be appropriated into and out of the HRA where 
justifiable but may require consent or a direction from the 
Secretary of State. 

1.3

1.4

The Housing Revenue Account resources are focused on 
delivering the efficient management and maintenance of existing 
council owned stock alongside building and acquiring new 
affordable housing.The Council’s housing stock is comprised of 
3106 tenanted and 308 leasehold properties as at 31 December 
2020 and a rent roll of over £14.6 m for 2021/22.

Gosport Borough Council has continued to use the formula rent 
guidance for social rents and has monitored this on a property, 
by property basis.
We have also applied the 80% market rental level for all of our 
affordable rented properties as detailed in the national rent policy 
guidance issued in February 2019.

2.0 Budget Commentary

2.1

2.2

An extract from the HRA Business Plan Financial Model detailing 
the predicted income and expenditure levels for the next 5 years 
has been included for reference at appendix A. Items that warrant 
specific mention are detailed in Paragraphs 2.2 and 2.3.

The Revised HRA budget for 2020/21 shows an overall decrease 
in expenditure of £1.1M and an increase in budgeted income of 
£50,000 leading to a budgeted surplus of  £1.4m. The following 
adjustments have been made to the 2020/21 budget :

1. Additional  income  received shows an  increase of £116,000
2. Additional management costs increase of £94,000
3. Increase in Repairs and maintenance of £427,000
4. Reduction in capital funding of £2,000,000 due to effects of 

lockdown and our contractors inability to enter properties.
 

2.3                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  The budget for 2021/22 shows an increase in rental income of 
£120,000 due to the 1.5% rent increase as detailed in the 
recommendations above and a small increase  in management 
costs of  £20,000. Capital funding is increased to reflect the return 
to normality and a full investment programme.

a)  Investment in HRA stock in the revised 2020/21 budget is 
£6.485m and there is a predicted surplus at the end of the 
year of  £1.4m.For 2021/22 budgeted investment in the 
stock is increased to £8.5m and a predicted deficit at the end 



of the year of  £226,000.This small deficit will be met from 
the Major Repairs Reserve and is due entirely to the 
increased investment.

b)  Commitments over the next two years for spending 1-4-1 
RTB receipts total £3.07m of which £2.15m has to be funded 
from reserves and £0.92m from the receipts.The new build 
programme is planned to start in 21/22 and  is detailed in 
the Capital Programme.The investment in new build 
properties is budgeted at £7m over the next 3 years.

c) The HRA Business Plan has loans of approximately £12m 
which are due for repayment between March 2021 and 
March 2024. Decisions on whether to repay or refinance 
maturing loans are taken as they fall due. As at 31st March 
2020 the HRA has borrowed £8.9m from the general fund 
(under borrowed) to fund it’s capital expenditure as opposed 
to borrowing from the PWLB or the markets. It is estimated 
that the HRA will remain approximately £8m under borrowed 
during this period. Being under borrowed gives the HRA the 
flexibility to fund capital expenditure without entering into 
long term commitments.

d) The long term sustainability of the HRA Business Plan was 
helped by the commitment to return to the CPI +1% rent 
increase for 5 years from 2020 and a 5 year extract is 
included at appendix A.

2.4

2.5        

 2 properties have been purchased off the open market exercising 
delegated Authority under Paragraph 2.7 of Part 3, Schedule 10 
of the Council’s Constitution.  The properties consisted of one end 
of terrace 3 bedroom house and one 3 bedroom house. The total 
cost of these properties was £515,000 and was funded 30% by 1-
4-1 retained receipts and 70% from reserves.  The properties were 
deemed as meeting our current Housing Needs. 

The proposed start of the new build programme was delayed due 
to the impact of covid 19.It is proposed that the Council embark on 
a programme of building new affordable rented properties within 
the Borough.The draft capital programme reflects this from 
2021/22.This will be funded initially with 30% from 1-4-1 RTB 
receipts and 70% from the reserves currently held in our Major 
Repairs/New Build/Loan Repayment Reserve.It is anticipated that 
£2.5m will be spent in 21/2022 and a further £1.85m in 2022/23 
with upto £2.5m in 2023/24.

3.0 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) (see Appendix B)



3.1 The revised Repairs and Maintenance budget for 2020/21 is 
£5,180,000 plus tech services costs an increase of £426,000 on 
the original budget.  The Repairs and Maintenance budget for 
2021/22 is £4,886,000. 

3.2 It is anticipated that the HRA balance will remain at its current level 
of £991,000 for 2020/21 , with a surplus of £1.4m to be transferred 
to the Major Repairs Reserve/New Build/Loan Repayment 
Reserve. 

3.3 It is anticipated that the HRA balance will continue to remain at 
£991,000 for 2021/22. A deficit of approximately £226,000 is 
budgeted to be transferred from the Major Repairs/New 
Build/Loan Repayment Reserve in 2021/22. The increased 
commitment to building new homes and requirement to utilise our 
additional 1-4-1 receipts necessitates the need for reserve levels 
to be maintained.

4.0 HRA Capital Programme

4.1 The original  HRA Capital Programme for improvements to 
housing stock in  2020/21 was £4,000,000 and the revised budget 
for 2019/20 is £2,000,000 a reduction of £2,000,000 as Covid has 
restricted the works our contractor can complete.The budget for 
2021/22 is £4,100,000 this is an increase on the revised budget  
of 2020/21 of  £2,100,000.

4.2 The revised HRA Capital programme has also set aside 
£2,540,000 in 2021/22 for our new build programme programme.

5.0 Rent Level Proposals

5.1 From April 2021 rents will increase at the rate of CPI plus 1% 
(2.3d).  The current CPI rate used will be 0.5%

5.2 The average social housing rent for secure tenants is currently  
£80.02 per week this excludes  hostels and the affordable rented 
properties. This is set to increase to £81.20 for 2021/22. Hostels 
are are due to increase from £160.06 to £162.40 and affordable 
rents from £147.60 to £149.80. 
An analysis of the numbers of different stock types and 
corresponding new rental levels is detailed in Appendix C.

5.3 Rents will increase by £1.18 a week on average for the social 
housing tenants, £2.34 for Hostels and £2.20 for affordable 
properties.It is proposed that service charges for tenants will 



continue to be determined at a level that enables the Council to 
recover the cost of the services provided.

5.4

6.0

6.1

6.2

It is proposed to increase rent levels for older style garages in line 
with inflation as previously agreed in the Garage Renewal strategy 
and to increase the charge for non GBC tenants by the same . 
New style garages will remain at their current rent level for GBC 
tenants.
 
Capital Improvements/Repairs and Maintenance 

A breakdown of the expenditure on capital improvements and 
repairs and maintenance is included at appendix D to this report.
  
The table included at appendix D splits the expenditure into its 
capital and revenue headings and details the main areas of 
expenditure under each heading. The work priorities have been 
identified by the stock condition surveys undertaken.

7.0 Risk Assessment

7.1 Self-financing means that much of the risk involved with the 
upkeep, maintenance and management of council housing has 
moved from Central Government to Local Authorities. Therefore 
the maintenance of the Major Repairs/New Build/Loan Repayment 
Reserve is considered essential. 

This reserve provides for the future funding of HRA projects, 
including new build programmes, safeguarding non-insurable 
risks and allowing the Council to take the opportunity to carry out 
any special debt repayment (potentially leading to discounts) 
should the economic conditions favouring such measures arise; 
and is in addition to the HRA Working Balance.

7.2 The government’s decision to allow rents to increase rents in 
social housing for 5 years at CPI plus 1% from April 2020 has 
improved the budgeted reserve levels previously anticipated in the 
HRA Business Plan. Revenue account balances will continue to 
be maintained at their current levels but funds that had been 
budgeted to be transferred to the Major Repairs/New Build/Loan 
Repayment Reserve will be amended by the amounts as detailed  
in Appendix A.

8.0 Other Properties

8.1 There is one other property (Park Lodge) where the rent level is 
assessed in line with HRA properties. The proposal is to increase 
the rent of this property in line with HRA properties.



9.0 Conclusion

9.1 This Report summarises the HRA budgets for 2020/21 and 
2021/22 as well as the proposed rent increase.

Financial Services 
comments:

As set out in the report

Legal Services comments: The Council is under a duty to set a 
budget which prevents a debit balance 
arising on the Housing Revenue 
Account

Crime and Disorder: Not applicable
Equality and Diversity: No direct implications
Service Improvement Plan 
implications:

The HRA Business Plan is a Service 
Improvement Plan item

Corporate Plan: More effective performance 
management, which includes making 
the best use of our assets, is a strategic 
priority in the Corporate Plan.

Risk Assessment: As detailed in paragraph 7.
Background papers: Garage Strategy (June 2009) /HRA 

Business Plan financial model 2021-
2051(Jan 2021) Business Plan Update 
Council Dwelling Rents 2020/21. 

Appendices/Enclosures:
Appendix A HRA 30 Year Business Plan extract
Appendix B HRA Budget
Appendix C Rent Analysis Extract
Appendix D  Repairs Budget

Report Author/ Lead Officer: Tim Hoskins Group Accountant Housing



APPENDIX A

  HRA 30 YEAR BUSINESS PLAN EXTRACT  
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Totals
 REV      
Rental income 13,831,000 13,867,000 14,152,000 14,250,000 14,330,000 70,430,000
Service chgs 705,000 710,000 720,000 730,000 735,000 3,600,000
Voids/Write Offs -250,000 -220,000 -240,000 -240,000 -240,000 -1,190,000
Garages 312,000 313,000 315,000 315,000 315,000 1,570,000
Other Income 481,000 437,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 2,118,000
  
Total Income 15,030,000 15,107,000 15,347,000 15,455,000 15,540,000 76,528,000
  
General 2,155,000 2,210,000 2,220,000 2,250,000 2,300,000 11,135,000
Special 2,117,000 2,082,000 2,100,000 2,120,000 2,140,000 10,559,000
Repairs 5,180,000 4,886,000 4,800,000 4,850,000 4,900,000 24,616,000
Other Expenditure 252,000 201,000 250,000 260,000 270,000 1,233,000
  
Total Expenditure 9,704,000 9,377,000 9,370,000 9,480,000 9,610,000 47,543,000
  
Interest Received 6,000 6,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 27,000

Capital Expenditure -2,000,000 -4,100,000 -3,300,000 -3,500,000 -3,500,000
-

16,400,000
  
Net Operating 
Income 3,331,000 1,636,000 2,682,000 2,480,000 2,435,000 12,564,000
  
Prudential borrowing
Loan Interest 1,859,000 1,816,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 9,075,000
loan repayment  
Debt management 42,000 42,000 45,000 48,000 50,000 227,000
 MRR/New Build 1,430,000 -222,000 837,000 632,000 585,000 3,262,000
  
Total Appropriations 3,331,000 1,636,000 2,682,000 2,480,000 2,805,000 12,934,000
  

 
 

      

Rent increases start 2020/21 at  CPI +1% for 5 years.(CPI 0.5% in model)



APPENDIX B

BUDGET REVISED BUDGET
2020/21 2020/21 2021/22

£000 £000 £000
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

Expenditure

Repairs & Maintenance 4,754 5,180 4,886
Supervision  & Management 4,177 4,272 4,292
Rents ,Rates,Taxes and Other Charges 239 252 201
Depreciation,Impairment and 
Revaluation 3,688 2,000 4,100
Debt Management Costs 42 42 42

Total Expenditure 12,900 11,746 13,521

Income

Dwelling Rents (14,305) (14,237) (14,357)
Non Dwelling Rents (295) (312) (313)
Charges For Services and Facilities (373) (481) (437)
                                                                     

Total Income (14,973) (15,030) (15,107)

Net Cost Of Services (2,073) (3,284) (1,586)

Interest Payable & Similar Charges 1,900 1,858 1,817
Interest & Investment Income (52) (6) (5)

NET HRA SURPLUS FOR YEAR (225) (1432) 226

HRA Balance

Balance B/fwd 991 991 991
Transfer to from HRA
Balance C/F 991 991 991

NEW BUILD RESERVE
Balance B/Fwd (3,573) (3,498) (4,265)
Transfer (to)or from HRA                                                         
Contribution to Capital

(225)
700

(1,432)
665

226
1778

Balance C/Fwd (3,098) (4,265) (2,261)



 APPENDIX C
Stock Count as at 31st December 2020

Type /bedroom  1 2 3 4 5 Total
        
Bedsit  12     12
Bungalow  315 65 9   1 390
Flat  927 59 16  1  1003
House  9 302 822 79 1 1213
House with extra ground floor bedroom   2 19 2  23
House with garage attached on curtiledge    13   13
Maisonette  23 104 57 2  186
Sheltered Bedsit  13     13
Sheltered Bungalow  38     38
Sheltered Flat  125 6    131
Hostels  72 8 4   84
Total       3106

Average rent by bedroom size

Type /bedroom  1 2 3 4 5 Total
        
Bedsit  63.44     63.44
Bungalow  82.83  86.84 95.73   80.09
Flat  72.16 85.23 88.29   73.22
House  78.60 89.70 94.79 102.29 99.20 93.89
House with extra ground floor bedroom   89.13 102.47 1087.78  101.87
House with garage attached on curtiledge    97.88   97.88
Maisonette  74.39 83.83 87.32 98.00  83.88
Sheltered Bedsit  60.51     60.51
Sheltered Bungalow  73.13     73.13
Sheltered Flat  65.14     65.14



APPENDIX D

Ref Revenue Budget 
21/22

1 Responsive Repairs (Inc Hostels and Major Responses) £2,040,000
2 Voids £900,000
3 Bulk Waste £120,000
4 Lifts Replacement and Repairs £15,000
5 Estate Improvements (Inc Tennant Led Fencing & OAP Redecs) £45,000
6 Cyclical (Inc Gas Servicing, External Painting, Compliance, PET, Equipment Testing & Keys £1,121,000

 Total £4,241,000

Ref Capital Budget 
21/22

7 Asbestos (Survey & Removals) £80,000
8 Fire Risk Assessment (Inc Associated Works & Testing £100,000
9 Disabled Aid & Adaptions (Inc Major Repairs) £400,000

10 Contingent Major Repairs (Inc Professional Fees) £1,247,000
11 Energy Efficiency (Inc wall installation) £5,000
12 Estate Capital (inc Additional Parking & Env Improvements ) £65,000
13 Roof Works (Inc Guttering) £0
14 Window and Doors £58,000
15 Kitchen & Bathrooms £825,000
16 Electrical Upgrades (Including Smoke Alarms) £925,000
17 Heating Upgrades £530,000
18 Sheltered Scheme Improvements £0

 Total £4,260,000



This page is intentionally left blank



Board/ Committee: Housing Board
Date of Meeting: 20 January 2021
Title: Policy on Assistance with Home Adaptations, 

Repairs, and Improvements
Author: Head of Environmental Health
Status: FOR DECISION 

Summary 

This report sets out the rationale for publishing the Policy on Assistance 
with Home Adaptations, Repairs, and Improvements (“the policy”) attached 
as an appendix to this report, so the council can use funding made 
available to it by central government to provide a service to more residents 
of the borough requiring assistance to remain in their own homes.

The policy establishes the criteria for issuing mandatory disabled facility 
grants (DFGs) as well as the circumstances under which a discretionary 
grant will be offered, and other procedural matters.

Recommendation 

That the Board agrees that the Council adopts the policy.

1 Introduction and Rationale

1.1 There is good evidence of the benefits of home adaptations.  A 
review of the research evidence found that home adaptations 
improved quality of life for 90% of recipients as well as resulting 
in reduced costs to health and care (Haywood and Turner, 2007; 
cited by Care & Repair England).  The Council is committed to 
improving the quality of life for its residents and assisting them to 
remain in their own homes.

1.2 In 2015, responsibility for funding DFGs was transferred to the 
Department of Health & Social Care, who introduced the Better 
Care Fund (BCF) for this purpose.  All BCF monies are paid to 
the upper-tier authority which then allocates specific amounts to 
the district councils.

1.3 Since 2008-09, the scope for how DFG funding can be used 
includes to support any local authority expenditure incurred 
under the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England 
and Wales) Order 2002 (“RRO”).  This enables Councils to use 
specific DFG funding for wider purposes.

1.4 The Council has no published RRO Policy.  The Deputy Director 
of the Housing Support Division in a letter from the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local Government dated 28 February 

Agenda Item 7



2020 said: “At present we are aware that around 85% of 
authorities have a locally published RRO policy, but we would 
like to see this rise to closer to 100% uptake.”.

1.5 The RRO gives Councils a general power to introduce local 
policies for assisting individuals with renewals, repairs, and 
adaptations to their homes.  In 2020-21 £795,489 has been 
made available to the Council from the BCF to provide such 
assistance.  In a recent email from Hampshire County Council 
Adults’ Health and Care it has been announced that a further 
payment of £107,115 will be made to the Council this financial 
year to support people to live independently.  RRO policies need 
to be adopted by all local authorities to provide more flexible use 
of the grant.

2 Policy Content, Aims, and Evidence

2.1 This discretionary use of the funding can help improve delivery 
and reduce the bureaucracy involved in the DFG application 
process, helping to speed up the process.  For example, local 
authorities could use an alternative means test, increase the 
maximum grant amount, or offer a service which rapidly deals 
with inaccessible housing and the need for quick discharge of 
people from hospital (MHCLG and NHS England, 2019).

2.2 In addition to mandatory grants, adoption of this policy will enable 
the Council to spend a portion of the funding on helping more 
people in need.  Most local authorities only deal with a handful of 
large and complex adaptations every year where the cost of fully 
meeting the needs of the disabled person exceeds the current 
limit of £30,000.  Therefore, discretionary payments will include 
a top-up of the mandatory grant.

Means testing will also be removed for repairs/ improvements 
below £6000.  Of the people who are assessed as needing an 
adaptation around a third drop out along the way, usually due to 
financial reasons; and most work to install level access showers, 
stair lifts or ramps, which account for 90% of adaptations, is 
under this amount.  Falls represent 10-25% of ambulance call-
outs to older adults.  (Source: DFG and Other Adaptations: 
External Review, 2018).

3. Consultation

3.1 Consultations on the policy in draft form have been held with 
Foundations – the national body for Home Improvement 
Agencies and lead on the transformation of DFGs – as well as 



Brian Bull at Portsmouth City Council who has responsibility for 
discharging on behalf of Gosport Borough Council our duty under 
the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  
Hampshire Country Council and the Council’s Housing 
Occupational Therapist have also been consulted.  A copy of 
their comments can be found as an appendix to this report.

4 Conclusion

4.1 There is a clear rationale for publishing the policy to improve the 
quality of life for Gosport residents and assist them to remain in 
their own homes.

Financial Services comments: No comment
Legal Services comments: Contained within the report.
Crime and Disorder: No comment
Equality and Diversity: No comment
Service Improvement Plan 
implications:

None

Corporate Plan: n/a
Risk Assessment: There are no significant risk 

considerations in relation to this report.  
The Council has a statutory duty to issue 
DFGs and adoption of this policy entails 
no additional financial cost to the 
Council.  The funding from the BCF is 
sufficient to meet the current demand for 
DFGs and therefore no additional 
contribution is required from the Council.

Background papers:

Appendices/Enclosures:  Policy on Assistance with Home 
Adaptations, Repairs, and 
Improvements (Version 1.3. 
December 2020)

 Consultation comments

Report author/ Lead Officer: Richard Gustar/ Ian Rickman



This page is intentionally left blank



Policy on Assistance with Home Adaptations, Repairs, and Improvements
(Version 1.3.  December 2020)

Contents:         Page No.

1. Introduction 1
2. Mandatory Grants 1
3. Discretionary Grants 2 - 3

3.1.  Circumstances under which a discretionary grant will be offered: 2 - 3
3.1.1.  Top-up to the mandatory grant amounting to an extra £10,000 or 2

    proportion thereof

3.1.2.  Cases of dual residency of a disabled child 2

3.1.3.  Relocation Grant 2 - 3

3.1.4.  Removal of means testing for repairs/ improvements below £6000 3

3.1.5.  Work to remove serious hazards 3

3.1.6.  Property Deep Cleans 3

3.1.7.  The Council employing the services of a private 3

    Occupational Therapist / secondment of OTs

4. General Requirements and Grant Conditions 4 - 7
4.1.  Applicant's Criteria 4
4.2.  Agency Service Fee 4
4.3.  Cost of Work 4 - 5
     4.3.1.  Means Testing 5

4.4.  Grant Approval 5 - 6
4.5.  Payment and Recovery of Grant 6 - 7
4.6.  Equipment Maintenance and Repairs 7
4.7.  Contractual Relationships 7

5. Policy Exceptions 7
6. Complaints Procedure 7 - 8
7. Reporting 8

ANNEX A 9



1

1. Introduction

The Council is a local housing authority and is committed to improving the quality of life for its 

residents and to provide a high-level service to households requiring assistance to remain in their 

own homes.  This policy document details the financial assistance available through the Council 

to support housing adaptations and improvements in the borough of Gosport.

In 2019-20 £795,489 plus an additional £88,763 was allocated to Gosport Borough Council 

through the Better Care Fund towards achieving this aim.  £795,489 has again been made 

available in 2020-211.

2. Mandatory Grants

Under the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 local authorities have a duty 

to issue mandatory disabled facilities grants (DFGs).  For residential adaptations, including 

homeowners, private renters, Housing Association tenants, and occupiers of qualifying 

houseboats and caravans.  (NB. Conversion requests for the Council's own housing stock will be 

funded by the Council's Housing Revenue Account).  Adaptations are limited to the following:

 facilitating access (including through common parts of a building);

 making a dwelling safe;

 access to a room usable for sleeping;

 access to a bathroom;

 facilitating preparation and cooking of food;

 works to care for dependant residents; and

 provision of heating, lighting, and power.

Under Part 1, Section 24(3) of the HGCRA 1996 there is a duty to consult with social services 

authorities on whether the proposed works are necessary and appropriate to meet the needs of 

the disabled person who is seeking a DFG.  In order to approve DFGs, officers of the Council will 

work primarily with an Occupational Therapist (OT).  Referrals (for both mandatory and 

discretionary grants) may however originate from other health and social care professionals.  

Local authorities can, should they choose, waive any requirement to repay a grant or reduce the 

amount required to be repaid.  

1letter dated 28 February 2020 from the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government specifying 
indicative allocation to be paid to Gosport in May 2020



2

3. Discretionary Grants

Whereas the DFG is to help older and disabled persons to remain living as independently and 

safely as possible in their homes, a portion of the funding can be used for contributing to the 

wider prevention agenda of housing, social care, and health authorities, which gives significant 

additional scope on how grants can be used.  Examples include funding essential repairs to 

reduce injury and accidents in the home, as well as ensuring homes are adequately heated.  

Under the Regulatory Reform Order 2002, local authorities can provide discretionary grants in 

accordance with a published policy.  These assistance packages are discretionary and therefore 

are provided subject to funds being available.

3.1.  Circumstances under which a discretionary grant will be offered:

3.1.1.  Top-up to the mandatory grant amounting to an extra £10,000 or proportion thereof

On occasion the mandatory grant, which is limited to £30,000, will not be enough to undertake all 

the adaptations and improvements required to the home.  This discretionary amount is over and 

above the maximum mandatory award of £30,000 and is subject to the same conditions applying 

to the mandatory scheme.  However, any additional money paid, on top of the £30,000, will not 

be repayable.  In effect this means where money is repayable (see section 4.5.) no person will be 

asked to pay back more than £10,000.  The Council reserves the right not to approve any 

discretionary top-up.

3.1.2. Cases of dual residency of a disabled child

A mandatory grant can only be provided to the 'sole or main residence'.  A discretionary sum of 

up to £6000 (plus agency fee where applicable) will therefore be available for works to the other 

property where that is in the Council's area.  This discretionary grant would not be means tested.

3.1.3. Relocation Grant

If adaptations to their current home through DFG are determined not to be feasible.  Applicants 

must be over 18 and any application must be supported by a recommendation from an OT.  The 

proposed property must meet the needs of the disabled person without or with only minor further 

adaptation.  Relocation must be within the borough of Gosport and the move must be completed 

within 12 months from application/ grant approval.  A grant of up to £6000 (plus agency fee 

where applicable) will be made available towards specific relocation expenses, which includes 

estate agent fees, legal costs, removal costs, and up to a 75% contribution towards a cooker 

and/ or fridge if built-in appliances are being left behind and none are fitted in the new property.  

The new property must be the disabled person’s main residence and no applicant will be 



3

awarded a Relocation Grant on more than one occasion.  Depending on the applicant’s 

circumstances (see section 4.3.1.) a test of resources may be required.

3.1.4.  Removal of means testing for repairs/ improvements below £6000 (plus agency fee where 

applicable)

Typical examples are the provision of stair lifts and level access baths/ showers.  In the case of 

level access baths/ showers within the existing bathroom, access ramps, and stair lifts2 (whether 

they be curved or straight) all applicants will be eligible for the works irrespective of the actual 

cost on completion of tender.

3.1.5.  Work to remove serious hazards

Category 1 Hazards (and Category 2 Hazards where an occupant is in the vulnerable age 

group3).  This might include, but is not limited to, cases for facilitating timely hospital discharge or 

reducing admissions to hospital (e.g. fall prevention measures) and residential care homes.  

Includes those in palliative care living at home with family, and where any application is 

supported by an OT or hospice or such like.  There is no limit to the amount of grant that could 

be made available, however works will be prioritised to Category 1 Hazards.  Works costing 

under £6000 (plus agency fee where applicable) will have the means test waived.

3.1.6. Property Deep Cleans

For example, to facilitate hospital discharges.  None means tested.

3.1.7.  The Council employing the services of a private OT / secondment of OTs

To prevent a shortage of available OTs in the public sector holding up necessary adaptations, 

repairs, and improvements, the Council will pay for the services of a private OT either on an ad 

hoc basis or on a temporary contract.  Alternatively, the Council can choose to second OTs for 

an indefinite period. 

2Only one stair lift will be supplied and fitted

3As specified in the Housing Health and Safety Rating System Operating Guidance



4

4.  General Requirements and Grant Conditions

4.1.  Applicant’s Criteria

 Homeowner or private/ Housing Association tenant (evidence required: land registry check 

or deeds inspection check, and owners certificate/ copy of tenancy agreement);

 Disabled of any age (see Annex A for a definition of disabled person); and/ or vulnerable 

person for specified discretionary grants;

 Must have or be intending to live in the property for at least 5 years, unless their health or 

personal circumstances prevent them from doing so;

 Private/ Housing Association tenants must obtain written permission for the works to be 

carried out prior to grant approval.  A Relocation Grant could alternatively be considered; and

 Successive applications are allowed (NB. The OT looks at the applicant's needs now and 5 

years hence).

4.2.  Agency Service Fee

Portsmouth City Council (PCC) Private Housing Team administer the DFGs on behalf of Gosport 

Borough Council.  Where applicants choose to use the PCC Agency Service to arrange for 

example contractors, then a fee of 15% is payable and included in the grant.  Applicants will be 

required to sign a form agreeing to this.  PCC will prepare a building works specification and 

obtain any necessary permissions for the works.  A contractor is then selected from a pre-

approved list and invited to tender for the works.  If the applicant is then in agreement the works 

can proceed.  After building work has started, PCC will continue to liaise with the contractor to 

ensure the works are completed satisfactorily and within the terms of the contract.  If applicants 

wish to use their own contractors (which they are quite within their rights to and are afforded the 

option to) then PCC Agency Service purely administer the grant and do not charge a fee. 

4.3. Cost of Work

The Council uses public money to fund the provision of both mandatory DFGs and discretionary 

grants and as such it must consider value for money.  All cases to be viewed on their own merits.  

Other than in circumstances where the applicant wishes to use their own preferred contractor, 

there is no minimum number of quotes required for the works.  So long as the applicant is happy 

with just one quote and the costs appear reasonable, then no further quotes will be sort.  

Otherwise at least two quotes for the works are required.

The maximum mandatory award is £30,000 and includes the actual costs of carrying out the 

works (including 15% Council agency service fee, where applicable) and other admissible 

expenses and charges necessarily incurred, such as: architects/ surveyors fees, charges for 



5

planning permission or building regulations approval, and fees for the professional services of an 

OT.  Discretionary grants are subject to the limits specified above.  When officers schedule the 

work to be carried out, they will ensure it meets the needs of the applicant but at the same time 

will only prepare a basic specification.  There is nothing to prevent applicants having a higher 

specification that costs more, however they will have to cover the difference themselves.  If the 

applicant does choose to privately fund an alternative option or higher specification product(s) 

over and beyond the grant specification, they must ensure the work carried out is fully in 

accordance with the OT’s recommendation.  If upon final inspection it is identified this is not the 

case and the works do not meet the needs of the applicant, the Council reserves the right to 

withhold any payments until the matter is put right.

4.3.1.  Means Testing

Parents of disabled children and young persons (under 19) are not subject to a test of resources, 

and neither are certain specified discretionary grants.  Recipients of specified means tested 

benefits (e.g. housing benefit/ income support or Universal Credit) also automatically pass this 

stage.  Otherwise all applicants for DFGs will be required to complete a means test to determine 

whether any contribution is to be paid towards the cost of works.

The Council’s private sector housing team (or the OT) may be able to advise and assist 

applicants by signposting to other sources (e.g. the Parity Trust) that may help with any 

additional costs that may be required, or where applicants are not eligible for an award.

4.4.  Grant Approval

Grants are required to be approved or refused within 6 months of a valid application being made.  

The Council must satisfy itself that the works which are the subject of the application are 

necessary and appropriate to meet the needs of the disabled occupant and are reasonable and 

practicable to implement, depending on the age and condition of the property.  In doing so, the 

Council will consult with and obtain necessary confirmation from the OT service.  In reaching a 

decision, the disabled persons medical and physical needs will be taken into account, and 

distinction will be made between the person's desirable, possible and legitimate aspirations and 

what is actually needed and fully justified.

A grant approval notice will then be issued setting out any conditions attached to the grant – only 

works agreed by the Council will be covered; approved works must be completed within 12 

months of the DFG approval unless an extension has been agreed; approved works must be 

completed by the appointed contractor; and payment of unforeseen and addition costs is subject 

to prior agreement.  The Council will not approve an application where the works have already 

been completed.  Prior to the works starting a suitable building contract must be drawn up and 



6

signed by all parties.  In instances where applicants are proceeding with works with their own 

preferred contractor, the applicant is responsible for ensuring a sufficient building contract is in 

place prior to works commencing.

Where changes in circumstances, such as where the works cease to be necessary or 

appropriate to meet the needs of the disabled occupant after the grant has been approved, the 

Council may agree to the completion of some or all the works and payment of such, or that the 

application should be redetermined.  The Council reserves the right to take such action as 

appears to be appropriate.  The Council will always ensure as far as is reasonably possible the 

property is left safe, secure and watertight.

4.5.  Payment and Recovery of Grant

On completion of the works on condition it has been carried out to the Council’s satisfaction, then 

payment will be made to the contractor.

In any cases of dispute, the steps set out in the building contract are to be followed.   Where the 

applicant ceases to be the owner or occupier of the property prior to completion of the works then 

the Council will not make any payments after that date.  In such circumstances, the Council has 

the right to demand any payment that has already been paid to be repaid including with interest.

Where any of the following situations come to the Council's attention, the Council can demand 

repayment of the grant by the applicant in whole or part:

  -  The amount of grant was approved on the basis of inaccurate or incomplete information;

  -  The eligible works were started before the application was approved;

  -  The works are not completed within 12 months without an extension being agree;

  -  The cost of works is less than that upon which the grant was approved; and/ or

  -  The work has been carried out by a contractor who was not one of the contractors who 

originally quoted for the work.

Each case will be considered on its own merits in deciding whether to recover any such 

payments, and a sympathetic stance will always be taken.

For mandatory grants in excess of £5000, up to a maximum of £10,000 can be recouped by the 

Council where a property is sold or disposed of or there is a change of ownership on the title 

deeds within 10 years of completion of the works (the certified date, which is 12 months from 

grant approval subject to any agreed extension).  A local land charge will be entered in Part 4 of 

the Local Charges Register for this purpose.  (Not applicable to private renters or Housing 

Association tenants).  None of the discretionary grants are repayable.

Exemption from full or partial payment will only be agreed in exceptional circumstances, which 

may include financial hardship or disability needs.  At the time of a grant needing to be repaid the 



7

applicant can write to the Head of Environmental Health to request an exemption from all or part 

of the amount, explaining the circumstances and providing appropriate supporting information.  

The decision whether to waive either all or a proportion of the grant recovery will be made by the 

Head of Environmental Health.

4.6.  Equipment Maintenance/ Repairs

Where the provision of equipment is funded by a mandatory or discretionary grant it is usually the 

responsibility of the applicant to take out the necessary insurances and maintenance agreements 

to ensure it is properly maintained.  Stair lifts and through floor lifts will however include a 5-year 

maintenance/ service agreement funded through the grant.

Grant applications for replacement equipment will not be approved where it is shown the 

equipment can be repaired at reasonable cost, which will fall to the householder.

4.7.  Contractual Relationships

These are set out in the building contract.  The Council will schedule the works that are required, 

which will form the basis upon which contractors quote.  Officers of the Council will attend the 

property from time to time to ensure the work is being undertaken as per the specification and on 

completion a final inspection will be made prior to payment.  The Council is not responsible for 

the work of the contractor and there are no contractual obligations between the contractor and 

Gosport Borough Council.

5.  Policy Exceptions

Whilst this policy is quite specific, any exceptions to it will be considered and agreed between 

Hampshire Country Council and the Head of Environmental Health with comments and views 

from other interested parties and agencies taken into account as appropriate.  Exceptions could 

take any form which is permissible under the legislation applicable.  Examples include where not 

undertaking the work results in significant hardship or risk to the applicant (or other relevant 

person) or significant cost or risk to the Council or NHS Trust, without reasonable alternatives.

6. Complaints Procedure

In the event applicants feel they have been treated unfairly, then contact should be made with 

the Head of Environmental Health so that the matter might be resolved.



8

If applicants remain unhappy then they can complain to the Local Government and Social Care 

Ombudsman.  Complaints should be raised within 12 months of a problem arising.  The 

Ombudsman Service can be contacted at www.lgo.org.uk or by telephoning 0300 061 0614.

7. Reporting

Quarterly to Hampshire County Council and to include the following information: case identifier, 

age of applicant, tenure type, referral date, decision date and outcome, total value of the grant 

and client contribution, summary of works, and completion date.

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


9

ANNEX A

Definition of disabled person

For the purposes of the legislation relating to DFGs, a person is defined as being disabled if:

- their sight, hearing, or speech is substantially impaired;

- they have a mental disorder or impairment of any kind; and/ or

- they are physically substantially disabled by illness, injury, impairment present since birth or 

otherwise.

A person aged 19 or over is taken to be disabled if:

- they are registered as a result of any arrangements made under section 29(1) of the National 

Assistance Act 1948; or

- they are a person for whose welfare arrangements have been made under that section or 

might be made under it.

A person aged under 19 is taken to be disabled if:

- they are registered in a register of disabled children maintained under the Children Act 1989; 

or

- in the opinion of Hampshire County Council they are a disabled child as defined for the 

purposes of Part III of the Children Act 1989.



Appendix – Consultation comments

Francesca Callingham BSc (Hons) 
Housing Occupational Therapist for Gosport Borough Council

3.1.4 Removal of means testing for repairs/ improvements below £5000 - stairlifts 
and level access showers. Can this include simple ramping which is often a barrier to people 
accessing their homes and getting out to essential medical appointments? I agree with Brian 
Bull that waiving the means test would be a huge benefit to many Gosport residents and 
could lead, in the long term, to being more cost-effective for the Council in time and money. 
Currently, people who are not eligible for a DFG due to their income and do not have 
savings that would enable them to fund the works themselves are left without essential 
adaptations, or adaptations are arranged privately that do not meet their long term needs. 

3.1.6 The Council employing the services of a private OT. As you know, Jane 
Bradford and I are now in seconded Housing OT posts from Hampshire County Council for 
Fareham and Gosport. There is a similar arrangement in Havant and East Hants areas. 
Since we have been in post, we have more than halved our waiting lists, and reduced the 
delays for an OT assessment. Can this be added as an option to be considered in the policy 
for the long term, as currently the secondments are for one year? Other District and Borough 
Councils have opted for employing an in-house OT which also ensures that waiting times for 
an OT assessment are reduced, but they do not have the same advantages of the link to 
Adult Services.

Sarah Jeffrey, Commissioning Officer
Hampshire County Council Adults’ Heath and Care

Thank you Richard. This looks comprehensive and the changes to policy that you are 
proposing are very much welcomed. Can I just check that deep cleans are included within 
the scope for discretionary grants? And also that referrals for simple adaptations/repairs will 
be accepted from other health and social care professionals not just OTs? 

Foundations

Had a skim read through the draft policy. It’s commendably brief and to the point in 
the main. Some of your ideas on the discretionary use are great and I hope they will unlock a 
few schemes that might not otherwise have come to fruition. 

It’s worth remembering that the legislation doesn’t require an OT to assess need. If 
delays are arising from the County not having enough OTs or not triaging cases so that less 
complex ones are being dealt with by OTAs and/or TAs and delays are arising, then perhaps 
a different solution can be found? I know that collectively in Hampshire joint working has 
been difficult, and a pragmatic answer may be the one which you have devised, but it does 
seem a shame.

If you are charging a 15% fee to the DFG I don’t think you can justify it being an 
‘administrative’ fee. If you are providing an agency service (drawing up specs, evaluating 
tenders, etc) then I think it might be difficult to claim you don’t take any responsibility for the 
contractor’s work. There have been LGO judgements in this area.



And I wondered if you were considering any framework type arrangements for some 
types of adaptation (ramps, stairlifts, and showers)? It would avoid the need to get two 
quotes on every occasion.

Brian Bull, Housing Renewals Team Leader
Housing, Neighbourhood and Building Services at Portsmouth City Council

For ease, I have answered your further query regarding framework raised by 
Foundations below too.

Tony is correct regarding the wording for the 15% fee, this is the Agency Service 
Fee, which the client will sign a form agreeing to this fee. If they do not sign, or wish to use 
their own contractors (which they are given the option too and quite within their rights too) 
we, the HIA Agency purely administer the grant and do not charge a fee onto the grant.

With regards to the framework. Essentially as the contract is between Gosport 
Borough Council and Portsmouth City Council. The contractor element is PCC responsibility. 
I have been in contact with our procurement in the past and with the current process we 
have in place this suffices. I attach the HIA Agreement and blank copy of the JCT contract 
advising and confirming PCC have no responsibility over the contractor and their 
performance. This ultimately is between the client and contractor and we are simply inviting 
a contractor to tender for the client. The contractor is selected on a fair rotational basis 
obtained from a list from Constructionline. The client is always given the choice once the 
contractor has visited and provided their quote, whether the client is in agreement with 
having this contractor carry out the works. I hope this makes sense, but happy to discuss 
further if you need any further clarification. 

I think it may be worthwhile adding into the Policy that Portsmouth City Council 
Private Housing Team are administering the DFG's on behalf of Gosport Borough Council. 
The OT's are great and explain to clients that we (PCC) administer the grant on behalf of 
GBC, but sometimes clients do get a little confused at first contact then they receive a call 
from PCC when they live in Gosport. Once we explain we are assisting the client 
understands, but it may be worth adding a section into the policy if you feel necessary.



Board/Committee: Housing Board
Date of meeting: 20 January 2021
Title: Procurement of Mobeysoft Rentsense Software
Author: Julie Smith, Head of Housing
Status: FOR DECISION

Purpose:

To seek the Board’s approval to waive the requirements within Contract Procedure 
Rules for the procurement of Mobeysoft’s Rentsense, as there is no other third-party 
supplier able to provide a comparable specialist software product designed specifically 
for Registered Social Landlords to improve income collection, and help reduce tenant 
arrears.

Recommendation:

That the Board approves the procurement of Rentsense for an initial 12 month 
contract with the option to extend.

 

1.0 Background

1.1 A fit for purpose arrears monitoring system is fundamental to reducing rent 
arrears, increasing collection rates, and creating capacity to support our 
most complex and vulnerable tenants, sustaining tenancies, and preventing 
homelessness.

1.2 The Council has had a good track record of income management but, in 
common with other social landlords, has come under increasing pressure 
following welfare reforms, the introduction of Universal Credit (UC), and 
more recently, the Covid-19 pandemic, resulting in increased levels of tenant 
arrears. 

Studies show the average level of rent arrears of UC claimants across all 
housing providers has risen by 45%.

1.3 The roll-out of UC has been a particular challenge with a number of factors 
having a negative impact on rental income collection, including; the first 7 
days of a claim not being eligible for payment (this has now ceased following 
UC reforms), significant delays in processing payments, and the push for the 
housing element of UC to be paid direct to all claimants, except in 
exceptional cases. 
 

1.4 Tenant arrears have been slowly rising over the past three years and 
currently stand at £501,068, with tenants claiming UC contributing to 
approximately 65% of the total. 

Agenda Item 8



The arrears as at December 2020 are summarised in the graph below:

< 7 WEEKS 
ARREARS

 8-13 
WEEKS 

ARREARS

14-51 
WEEKS 

ARREARS

>52 WEEKS 
ARREARS

0

50000

100000

150000

200000

250000

Series 1

It is projected the Council is currently 42% through the roll-out of full-UC, and 
a further 650 tenants are still to transition across to the full service. 

1.5 The Housing Service currently manages tenancies and historical arrears 
accounts using a combination of two systems. The Capita Open Housing 
system records details of all tenancies and tenants, while rent monitors in 
the form of Excel-based spreadsheets are used to identify tenants who are 
falling into arrears and may need assistance to maintain payments. 

1.6 Both these systems have limitations and the rent monitors were introduced 
as a means to try to overcome the short comings of the Open Housing 
income management system. 

Neither of the current, separate systems can identify and prioritise accurate 
caseload for officers at an early stage, resulting in officer time being wasted 
unnecessarily, as well a lack of early and consistent intervention with tenants 
that accrue arrears. 

1.7 Approval is sought to make a direct award to Mobeysoft as, having looked 
at products in the market place and available frameworks, the Housing 
Service has not been able to identify any other comparable third party 
suppliers of a specialist software product designed specifically for 
Registered Social Landlords to improve income collection, and help reduce 
tenant arrears.

1.8 This is supported by West Dunbartonshire Council, who issued a Future 
Contract Opportunity requesting suppliers to respond to specifically 
developed questions to test the markets capability to meet these specific 
requirements. The Future Contract Opportunity was issued to 3,515 
suppliers, and from the 3,515 suppliers alerted to the opportunity, only 8 
noted an interest. This resulted in one response being received which was 
from Mobeysoft.

1.9 The introduction of Rentsense will add efficiencies into the current debt 
recovery process and reduce caseloads, meaning officers will be able to 
complete arrears caseloads each week, contact the right tenants at the right 



time, address those accounts in arrears and reduce debt owed to the 
Council.

2.0 Report

2.1 Rentsense is a unique, comprehensive social housing income management 
software application provided by Mobeysoft to help landlords protect and 
maximise income, and mitigate the impact of welfare reforms and embed 
efficiencies.

Rentsense achieves this by using a series of complex algorithms which 
analyse tenants’ transactional history, coupled with a predictive analytical 
application that predicts which tenants will and will not pay their rent. 

Rentsense is a cloud-based solution offering maximum flexibility and 
minimum constraints, can be accessed from anywhere and promotes the 
benefits of agile working. 

2.2 Mobeysoft has a proven track record with more than 160 Rentsense clients, 
all social landlords, analysing rent payment patterns for more than 1.6 million 
social housing tenants (approximately 29% of all social housing tenancies) 
resulting in £7billion of transactions per year. 

Some examples of their client base are: Bristol City Council; Enfield Council, 
New Forest District Council, Hammersmith & Fulham Council, Sandwell 
Council and more recently, Portsmouth City Council.

2.3 In May 2020, Mobeysoft analysed the Council’s arrears processes and 
systems and identified a number of inefficiencies prevalent as a result of the 
existing systems, the key findings being:

 Inaccurate caseload, resulting in operational inefficiencies. 

 Approximately 43% of specified recommendations do not require action 
but are reviewed by officers, resulting in wasted time and effort. This 
makes it challenging for the team to achieve the objectives around 
delivering ‘quality over quantity’.

 The systems cannot effectively monitor arrangements and UC payment 
cycles, resulting in further officer time wasted on unnecessary checks.

 Cases manually reviewed using spreadsheets.

 The systems do not facilitate a preventative focus based on historical 
trends or future risk.

 It is estimated that there are cases missing from the current increasing 
and static arrears reports that require immediate action. The ‘missing’ 
cases can only be identified by officers regularly auditing all of their 



cases, but due to sheer volume of work, it is unfeasible for officers to 
review their entire patch.

 Reporting functionality does not enable managers to monitor trends in 
real time.

2.4 With the continued rise in new UC claimants and transition of Housing 
Benefit legacy claimants to UC, there is a real need to manage rental income 
collection as effectively as possible to mitigate the risk to the Housing 
Revenue Account. 

The roll-out of UC has had a significant impact on all Registered Providers, 
and the situation has been further impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. 

2.5 Initial statistics from the analysis undertaken by Mobeysoft in May showed 
that 76% of UC tenants were in arrears compared to 17% of non-UC tenants 
(this included those in receipt of Housing Benefit), with an average UC 
arrears of £598.63. 

2.6 It is projected the Council is currently 42% through the roll-out of full-UC, and 
a further 650 tenants are still to transition across to the full service. 

At the current rate of arrears averages, UC arrears are likely to rise by more 
than £125,000 over the next 18 months unless mitigating action is taken. 

2.7 The Council employs 10 full time, generic Neighbourhood Housing Officers 
with a typical patch size of approximately 320 properties, compared to the 
national average of around 180 cases. 

Studies show that UC tenants need 3 times more contact than other tenants, 
and the average level of rent arrears of UC claimants has risen by 45%. 

Based on current and predicted workload, the Council needs to employ a 
total of 12.4 FTE members of staff in order to make a significant impact on 
performance without the investment of the Rentsense solution.

3.0 Financial

3.1 Further to the discovery sessions in May, Mobysoft has projected the 
following return on investment in the first year: 

 Officer capacity gains – elimination of waste work: 2.4 FTE

o Producing a sustainable caseload for officers, freeing up 
capacity to support the most vulnerable action low level 
arrears and support a more robust approach to dealing with 
higher risk cases.

 First year projected arrears reductions of £54,349



 11.5% reduction in the volume of tenants in arrears

o Equivalent to 93 tenants out of debt

Mobysoft has corroborated this against benchmarked data from across 
over 160 other social landlords,  and analysis of the impact of Rentsense 
on users undertaken by an independent data science company, 
QuantSpark

3.2 Pricing is calculated on a ‘price per property per annum’ basis and the first-
year licence fee for the RentSense Lite and Performance Reporting modules 
is £41,202 +VAT (as at May 2020). 

If the Council were to continue with the service beyond the first year, the cost 
would reduce to £33,772 +VAT per annum. The projected arrears reductions 
and officer capacity gains cover the cost of the initial 12 month contract.

3.3 RentSense is provided as a fully managed and hosted service. The licence 
fees include full remote implementation (inclusive of testing, training and 
configuration), ongoing service management in the form of an allocated 
Client Success Manager, regular diagnostic reviews, bi-annual Account 
Director reviews, online focus sessions, online training tools, best practice 
events & full ongoing IT support.

3.4 The cost of the contract can be met from within existing budgets in the 
Housing Revenue Account.

4.0 Risk assessment

4.1 There is a real risk to service delivery and rental income collection unless 
action is taken to address the unmanageable caseloads and inefficiencies 
in the current systems.

Failure to have a robust arrears management system which is able to 
predict and recommend targeted debt recovery actions will result in 
increased rent arrears.

4.2 Having looked at products in the market place and available frameworks, 
the Housing Service has not been able to identify any comparable software 
solution in the market place that offers payment profiling and predictive 
analysis technology. 

4.3 The Housing Service will monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of 
Rentsense on an ongoing basis, with Mobeysoft providing on-site support 
and management reports to support this. 

The Neighbourhood Managers will monitor the quality of work carried out 
by individual Housing Officers to ensure the information from Rentsense is 



used effectively, work which will make a real difference to GBC’s social 
tenants.

4.4 The Housing Service will continue to undertake market research in the 
industry for this type of service, as UC becomes the norm. 

5.0 Conclusion

5.1 The current debt recovery process is inefficient; officers have unmanageable 
caseloads which prevents them from providing early intervention and 
support to those tenants at greatest risk of falling into arrears.

It is expected that UC arrears will rise by more than £125,000 by 2022 which 
will add extra work to already unsustainable caseloads. This is without the 
additional pressures being brought about due to the coronavirus and the 
impact it is having on landlords at a local and national level.

5.2 Rentsense is a unique social housing income management software 
application that integrates with existing Housing Management software to 
help landlords protect and maximise income, and mitigate the impact of 
welfare reforms. 

5.3 There are no other comparable solutions in the market place that are proven 
in terms of accuracy or consistently reducing arrears, which are key criteria 
for all social landlords, meaning a competitive tender process is not an 
option. 

Rentsense has over 160 social housing clients, the majority procured via a 
waiver process.

5.4 Other organisations that have introduced this product have reported easier 
case management and an improvement in collection rates.

In order for the Council to improve performance and collection rates, either 
the size of the team needs to be increased at a cost of £85,835 per annum, 
or invest in the Rentsense product for an initial 12 months at a cost of 
£41,202 +VAT (as at May 2020), with an option to extend. 

Financial Services comments: Contained within the report 
Legal Services comments: Contained within the report
Equality and Diversity: The service is inclusive for all GBC social 

housing tenants and is an operational 
enhancement to existing housing management 
processes. There is no impact on groups with 
protected characteristics.

Climate Change implications: None
Corporate Plan: Rentsense will enable the Council to deliver 

effective services; provide value for money, 



continually review and improve processes, and 
take a customer focussed approach to 
proactively managing rental income.

Proactively managing rental income will 
empower our residents to sustain their 
tenancies, providing support at an early stage 
when needed, and help improve overall well-
being 

Background Papers: None
Appendices: None
Report Author/Lead Officer: Julie Smith



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE HOUSING BOARD HELD
	Minutes

	6 Business Plan Financial Model Update
	7 DFG Policy 2020
	7.Gosport DFG Policy 2020 version 1.3. December 2020
	7. Appendix - Consultation comments

	8 Procurement of Mobeysoft Rentsense Software

